In collaboration with Oliver Wyman



China's Climate Challenge: Financing the Transition to Net Zero

INSIGHT REPORT JULY 2022



Contents

Foreword	3
Executive summary	4
1 China's commitment to tackling climate change	5
2 The financing gap	10
2.1 Building a stronger information infrastructure	13
2.2 Balancing lending supply and demand	15
2.3 Enhancing the policy framework	17
3 Industry analysis	
3.1 Mobility	22
3.2 Construction and real estate	28
3.3 Steel	32
Conclusion	38
Contributors	39
Acknowledgements	40
Endnotes	42

Disclaimer

This document is published by the World Economic Forum as a contribution to a project, insight area or interaction. The findings, interpretations and conclusions expressed herein are a result of a collaborative process facilitated and endorsed by the World Economic Forum but whose results do not necessarily represent the views of the World Economic Forum, nor the entirety of its Members, Partners or other stakeholders.

© 2022 World Economic Forum. All rights reserved. No part of this publication may be reproduced or transmitted in any form or by any means, including photocopying and recording, or by any information storage and retrieval system.

Foreword

China holds immense opportunities to realize net-zero ambitions and global environmental change.



Jason Ekberg Partner, Corporate and Institutional Banking Practice, Oliver Wyman



Kai Keller Platform Curator, The Future of Financial Services in China, World Economic Forum

An April 2022 Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change report found that the global community is on a pathway to global warming of more than double the 1.5°C (or 2.7° Fahrenheit) limit agreed upon in Paris in 2015. The report underscores the urgency with which private and public sector leaders must act, and China – currently the world's largest carbon emitter – has made an ambitious pledge to achieve carbon peak by 2030 and carbon neutrality by 2050.

Fulfilling this commitment will require an enormous amount of financing – about CNY 140 trillion (Chinese yuan renminbi) (\$22 trillion) in total for the 2020-2060 period across the electricity, steel, mobility, and construction and real estate industries alone. These are also heavily polluting industries that are particularly hard to transition and require the application of innovative, new technologies that are earlystage, capital-intense and risky. Public and private stakeholders, both from carbon-intense industries and the financial services community, need to create new financing models to develop, test and scale these technologies.

To facilitate this process, the World Economic Forum, in collaboration with Oliver Wyman, is engaging global industry leaders in the Financing the Transition to a Net-Zero Future initiative. In October 2021 – and in time for the 26th United Nations (UN) Climate Change Conference of the Parties (COP26) – initiative members published an <u>insight report</u> presenting initial findings from these global discussions. Building on this work and recognizing China's significance in accelerating capital mobilization towards these early-stage decarbonization technologies, the Forum and Oliver Wyman convened a group of Chinese industry leaders and experts in early 2022 to explore how challenges and opportunities in China align with or differ from global dynamics. Through numerous workshops and expert interviews, more than 50 industry and public sector leaders contributed insights and observations and posed yet-to-be-solved questions that are presented in this insight report.

China holds a critical and outsized role in helping the global community achieve the targets of the Paris Agreement and preserving the planet's biosphere. At the same time, China's available financing mechanisms and its financial system remain somewhat distinct. A nuanced understanding of prioritized net-zero technologies and potential pathways to financing these technologies in Greater China is therefore critical to ensure the country can achieve its net-zero ambitions. This publication seeks to help in turning these ambitions into realities, show the enormous opportunities China holds for contributing to the global carbon-neutrality agenda and also highlight remaining challenges.

We welcome your feedback on the ideas presented in this insight report and encourage you to become part of this important work facilitated by the World Economic Forum through the Shaping the Future of Financial and Monetary Systems Platform and the Mission Possible Platform.

Executive summary

China has the most ambitious net-zero target of any country worldwide and so must ensure it can finance a carbon-neutral transition.

China has declared itself fully committed to having a decarbonized economy by 2060, a massive ambition. For more than 15 years, due to its heavily industrialized economy, it has been the world's biggest emitter of greenhouse gases. One unique challenge the world's second biggest economy will face in transitioning to carbon neutrality is balancing its decarbonization ambitions with the need to maintain a compelling economic growth rate.

At the 26th UN Climate Change Conference of the Parties (COP26) held in Glasgow, Scotland, from 31 October to 13 November 2021, China and the US agreed to boost climate cooperation over the next decade. In a joint declaration, the two countries called for increased efforts to close the significant gap, which will be necessary if the world is to keep its target of restricting the average global temperate rise to 1.5°C, as set out in the Paris Agreement of 2015. They renewed this commitment to cooperate at the Forum's Annual Meeting 2022 in Davos.

Despite these bold words, China's journey to a carbon-free future has only just started. As this report shows, the coming decades will see China having to invest heavily in economic transformation, above all in three sectors that, along with energy, dominate the country's carbon emissions: steel, mobility, and construction and real estate.

Covering the R&D expenditure needed to identify and develop the necessary new technologies and paying for the new machinery and equipment that must be bought and installed will require an immense amount of funding.

This report identifies three areas where change will be needed to make these shifts possible:

- Finance innovation, particularly in finding ways in which lending packages can be structured to meet the needs of long-term borrowers facing higher costs and/or lower margins.
- Collaboration, particularly between different players within an industry that can create incentives for companies to produce or use sustainable products and inputs.
- Policy support, particularly in the areas of standards and the use of tax incentives to discourage unwanted behaviour, such as through the imposition of carbon taxes, and encourage desirable practices, such as tax breaks on green products and services.

Although realizing some of these changes will be challenging, none looks insurmountable. Rather, as this report concludes, given the resources China has available, the commitment of its government and the time scale over which China's transition to carbon neutrality will occur, there is good reason to believe the Chinese economy will indeed be carbon neutral by 2060.

1 China's commitment to tackling climate change

Through the adoption of green technologies, China can radically transform their economy to achieve net zero.



China is active in the world's major global initiatives to tackle climate change. Like most other countries, it recognizes that a global problem needs global solutions. It is moving ahead with the ongoing adoption of the Paris Accords, including those commitments agreed at COP26 in Glasgow in November 2021.

In addition, despite broader geopolitical tensions, China and the US issued a joint statement

addressing the climate crisis, followed by a joint declaration on tackling climate change at COP26, which demonstrate a commitment to boosting climate cooperation over the next decade (Figure 1). Domestic policies in China are also heavily focused on climate change. The latest five-year plan, covering 2021-25, puts decarbonization at the centre of policy-making, and the country has also made progress in the carbon trading market.

FIGURE 1 China's recent commitment to tackling climate change



Xi Jinping commits China's CO₂ emissions to peak by 2030 and for the country to be carbon neutral by 2060.



China's top economic planning document includes a midpoint non-fossil energy share target for its nationally determined contribution, and energy and carbon intensity reduction targets for 2025.

China's national carbon trading market was launched with 2,162 key emission units from the country's power generation industry. Covering 4.5 billion tonnes of CO₂ emissions, CCETE is the world's largest carbon market.

The China-US pledge has increased collaboration to tackle climate change, including commitments to cooperate on sharing information and technology, reducing methane emissions and using more renewable energy.

Source: World Economic Forum and Oliver Wyman, 2022, based on official disclosures

Nonetheless, it is also clear that China's transition to a carbon-free future has only just started. Its commitment to reaching peak CO₂ emissions by 2030 and having net-zero CO₂ emissions by 2060 represents a gigantic project that is unique in two ways. First, industrial output constitutes a much higher proportion of the Chinese economy than any other major economy. And second, its economic governance model means that the West's freemarket mechanisms might be less applicable to driving change.

China is considered to be "the world's factory", with its manufacturing's share of GDP - 27% in

2019 - far higher than in any of the developed economies such as Germany and Japan (Figure 2).¹ Furthermore, this manufacturing is heavily concentrated in sectors with high CO₂ emissions (Figure 3), including steel, cement, petrochemicals and automotive.² China's manufacturing CO₂ emissions alone are equal to 2.2 times the total emissions in Europe and almost 13 times the carbon sunk from photosynthesis in the Amazon jungle.³ This carbon-heavy core of the Chinese economy will require substantial technological advances and investment to reach net zero.

FIGURE 2 | The proportion of manufacturing in GDP in China, the EU, the US and globally (2015-2019)



Source: World Economic Forum and Oliver Wyman, adapted from World Bank, Data - Manufacturing, value added (% of GDP), 2021





Source: World Economic Forum and Oliver Wyman, adapted from International Energy Agency, Data and statistics, 2020

Consequently, China's net-zero commitment will depend on a revolutionary transformation of its economy driven by the widespread adoption of green technologies, which will require enormous investment (Table 1).

TABLE 1Prioritized technology to be financed, with expected contribution to China becoming
net zero by 2060

Industry	Technology breakthroughs		
Energy	Photovoltaic (PV)	Generating electricity from solar power with PV modules	15-20%
	Wind power	Generating power with wind turbines	10-15%
	Nuclear power, etc.	Generating electricity from nuclear power, geothermal, tidal and other low-carbon energy	5-8%
Construction and real estate	Green cement	Using waste or green materials and more efficient technologies in cement production	3-5%
	Building energy management	Efficient in-building energy management and use of building in renewable energy production (e.g. rooftop PV)	2-3%
Iron and steel	Long process to mini-mill	Using electric furnaces which have shorter processes and lower emissions, using scrap steel as raw material	8-10%
	Hydrogen metallurgy	Using hydrogen as a reducing agent instead of coal for metallurgy	1-2%
Mobility	Electrification of automobiles	Using electric vehicles to replace fuel vehicles	3-5%
	Green auto factories	Using recycled materials and components, efficient processes and energy management tools	1-2%
Heating	Green heating	Using geothermal, industrial waste heat and other energy sources to replace coal for heating	3-5%
General	Carbon capture, utilization and storage	Captures carbon dioxide emissions from sources for either storage or reuse	15-20%



China's unique economic model will shape this transition with both the government and provincial administrations playing key roles due to their involvement in detailed economic planning. Stateowned enterprises will also be important due to their substantial market share in many industries, including the carbon-heavy industries needing to transition and the financial services that will have to finance that transition. Compared with Western market-driven models, especially those where corporate's quarterly results are a focus, this top-down approach to economic planning may prove advantageous in investing for the long term. However, China will also need to ensure market vitality remains strong so that it encourages the innovation and development of the new technologies needed to ensure successful decarbonization (Figure 4).

FIGURE 4 | Four key forces in Chinese society and their participation in net zero



While central and regional governments and state-owned enterprises often have good access to resources, they typically struggle to identify the best projects to focus on.



Financial institutions have ample funding resources, but often lack the professional knowledge needed to identify the most productive investment targets.



Many key technologies need to be imported and tailored to China's specific demands, which requires both intensive investment and industry expertise.



Private sector companies, the most effective group at driving environmental, social and governance (ESG) development, usually require major incentives before action.

Source: World Economic Forum and Oliver Wyman

2 The financing gap

China must promote an enabling environment that can create functioning markets for green financing.



General For the key technologies required to support China's 2060 net-zero ambitions, financing challenges range from insufficient investor awareness to high levels of perceived risk. China's transition to net zero will require an enormous amount of green financing – about CNY 140 trillion (\$22 trillion) for the 2020-60 period across electricity, steel, mobility, and construction and real estate. Currently, however, a funding gap of around CNY 1.1 trillion (\$170 billion) a year, or CNY 44 trillion (\$6.7 trillion) for the entire period, exists between this total and the likely supply of funds.

At the core of this gap is the need to finance innovative technology. Given the unproven nature of many of the technologies, funding such an investment represents a material risk to financing providers. In China, the gap is exacerbated by a structural imbalance between the supply of and demand for financial services, especially for various asset classes and loan tenors.

For the key technologies required to support China's 2060 net-zero ambitions, financing challenges

range from insufficient investor awareness to high levels of perceived risk (Figure 5). For example, the steel industry faces a gap in the unfunded process optimization of mini-mill electric arc furnaces and depreciation of integrated blast furnace projects of around CNY 3-4 trillion from 2020 to 2060 - approximately half the entire steel industry's gap. Mobility, and construction and real estate also face major green financing gaps (both CNY 8-10 trillion from 2020 to 2060). Energy, although facing the largest funding gap – approximately CNY 15-20 trillion - has a far clearer path to carbon neutrality. An understanding of the technologies required already exists, leaving the issue of scaling financial support as the only major outstanding issue. Accordingly, the relatively more difficult transition pathways for the mobility, steel and the real estate and construction sectors are the main focus of this report.

FIGURE 5

Green financing gap in key industries and technology areas (in CNY trillion, 2020-60)



Source: Oliver Wyman estimation

One of the key reasons for a funding gap is the structural mismatch, including instruments and tenors, between the available and required financing. According to surveys conducted within the Forum communities in China, the manufacturing sector expects significantly lower interest rates for green financing projects compared to its general financing cost for non-green projects.

Other factors which would help companies raise funds needed for green capital expenditure and operational expenditure include:

 More flexible collateral requirements, especially for small and medium-sized enterprises (SMEs)

- More depth and availability in the green bond market
- Longer tenor financing
- New products, including blended equity capital structures

Such challenges are not insurmountable. Mismatches in finance offerings and demands, including financial instruments, tenors and other terms, present the opportunity for mitigating the yawning gap more efficiently by developing a more optimized green finance supply (Figure 6).

FIGURE 6 Green financing gap for key industries and technology areas (in CNY billion, 2020-60)



This poses the question of how China can create the enabling environment that will encourage such shifts towards realizing the kind of smooth-functioning financial markets needed for its net-zero transition.



2.1 Building a stronger information infrastructure

In recent years, financial resources have flowed into funds targeting China's ESG ventures. However, such investments need to be validated by credible data and aligned with unified standards for what is green, both of which require clarifications of the expected scope and metrics of corporate disclosures. Many financial institutions lament the absence of such disclosures and lack the infrastructure to capture related data.

- China has no robust tools and data to evaluate whether a target is really green. On many occasions, it's just claimed to be green. Demand exists for green financing data providers and standardized green evaluation tools.
- In China, we lack the data to gain the relevant facts, including how to assess a target and how to monitor if it's using money properly.
- Emission factors used in China are based on 2012 data. That's very outdated and can only calculate unreasonably low emission numbers.

Source: Quotes collected from poll engine under Chatham House Rule, 2022



© Carbonevaluation methodologies must be refined and aligned across the country. To create the robust, dependable data infrastructure needed to support climate-mitigation financing in China, the following steps need to be taken:

- Designing data standards and frameworks relevant to China. While international standards and frameworks do exist, China's market idiosyncrasies, including the scale of its economy, its many domestically developed manufacturing practices and the use of heat values and emissions factors that are only applicable in China, make it difficult for these frameworks to adapt to China's needs or they are likely to result in significant divergences in evaluation results.
- Putting in place evaluation methodologies and tools for carbon quantification. China's evaluation methodologies and tools for carbon quantification are underdeveloped compared to those used in developed markets. Prevalent leading evaluation systems, such as those of the Partnership for Carbon Accounting Financials (PCAF) or the Paris Agreement Capital Transition Assessment (PACTA), are not designed to handle manufacturing on the scale found in China. Interviews suggest manufacturers are also unwilling to disclose data deemed sensitive by the Chinese government. Currently available solutions in China are regarded, especially by overseas financial institutions, as insufficiently developed and prone to underestimating CO₂ emissions.
- Improving data collection. China lacks mechanisms for collecting industry data regularly and consolidating data gathered from different sources. As a result, its emissions data is fragmented and outdated. Various data points, including some serving as crucial parameters for carbon calculations, have not been updated for more than ten years.

- Standardizing disclosures needed for carbon-neutrality compliance. Regulatory standards for green projects, especially those which align with the Task Force on Climate-Related Financial Disclosures and its specific localization for China, are limited in their required contents, formats and timings of disclosures. The resulting deficiencies and inconsistencies hinder financial institutions from adequately monitoring fund flows and usage.

Addressing the above challenges will require efforts from multiple parties:

- The central government can help provide the impetus to establish universal green-financing standards and disclosure frameworks and ensure their consistent implementation across the country. These should be supported by appropriate incentives and penalties such as tax benefits, access to government support, fines and withdrawal of official backing.
- Carbon-evaluation methodologies must be refined and aligned across the country. This can be achieved either through localizing global methods (such as those of PCAF, PACTA and the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change), adjusting them to China's specific conditions, or by refining the evaluation system that China now has in place.
- It is essential to build the appropriate databases for providing better green portfolio evaluation. Such databases will have to include information such as production capacity, emissions, pricing and geospatial updates that can be readily updated and accessed. Emerging technologies, such as sensors based on the internet of things (IoT), can play an invaluable role in this respect.

Balancing lending supply and demand 2.2

The risk-averse nature of financial institutions has long led them to favour providing funds for projects in industries, innovations, companies and asset classes with tested profitability track records. With many net-zero schemes unproven, institutions will perceive a higher degree of lending risk than they are accustomed to. We have identified several areas that must be addressed during China's net-zero transition, but which financial institutions have paid insufficient attention to due to a lack of information. This is particularly true for certain industries, companies and innovation areas. The unbalanced distribution of financial supply significantly exacerbates key parts of the funding gap.



Insights about the prospects of different pathways	Their access to prospects on policies, technical advancement trends, etc. is limited
The willingness and resources to conduct continuous on-site due diligence	It is hard to recruit analysts who are willing to perform continuous on-site due diligence; outsourced teams with the right knowledge are scarce



Commitments to driving the greening of supply chains will, in turn, increase the demand for more innovative greening solutions. Small and medium-sized manufacturing innovators face an especially hard time securing financing. This is despite them being the most proactive businesses when it comes to resolving net-zero technical difficulties and their general importance to the economy, accounting for 65% of total CO₂ emissions in China⁴ and around 60% of GDP and 80% of all employment. As SMEs are more responsible for Scope 3 emissions than larger companies, greening their operations will have a major impact on lowering the upstream emissions of those larger companies.

Underlying their problems in securing funding are:

- A lack of appropriately tailored financial products. Financial institutions tend to avoid lending to SMEs due to less public data being available about such companies' performance. If data is available, financial institutions often still struggle to develop financing offerings that meet the needs of SMEs.
- A lack of long-term financing support. Green projects, especially those requiring investment in research and innovation, typically require a longer payback time than conventional projects. For example, a green cement manufacturing plant typically takes 8-10 years to repay its loans, longer than a traditional cement plant. It is also likely to have higher costs and so will be less profitable. Most financial institutions prefer short tenors (1-3 years) for such projects.
- Top-down push from anchors. Driving innovation and greening the supply chain, for which SMEs are key, requires a greater push from their anchors, i.e. core buyers. However, if the anchors themselves lack carbon emission ambitions and know-how, the entire supply chain remains disincentivized. As such, ensuring there are clear anchor commitments to driving the greening of supply chains will, in turn, increase the demand for more innovative greening solutions.

The following approaches could help financial institutions de-risk lending to SMEs:

Establish touch points where investors and entrepreneurs can gain exposure to each other. Such points could include focus groups, industry forums and associations, and one-off events, all aimed at mitigating the information gap between SMEs and financial decision-makers.

- Develop new knowledge services. Knowledge services, such as consulting, expert networks, data provision, and Al-driven data capture and knowledge tools, have enormous potential to provide tools useful for understanding new green technologies.
- Create appropriate financing products.
 Investors with "smart green money" funds that can be committed to long-term green projects

 and grassroots financing efforts, such as green deposits, are the best funding sources for innovators with long financing cycles. For example, HSBC, the first international bank to offer green deposits in China, puts the funds raised into long-term green investment projects. Such schemes also have the benefit of contributing to the bank's corporate sustainability agendas and reputation.
- Offer one-stop financing solutions that integrate funding sources with different tenors. For example, private equity firms, asset managers and banks can work together to provide funding for different tenors, with private equity/venture capital firms offering the longest terms, asset managers offering mid-term facilities and banks covering short-term loans.
- Clear commitments from anchors. Anchors need to work collaboratively with their financiers to design propositions that create the right incentives for green supply chains and access to investments that support the transition. This will require broader collaboration beyond banks and anchors, including third parties, to assess, measure and verify incentives for SMEs.

2.3 | Enhancing the policy framework

Government policies are crucial for supporting green initiatives and related financing activities, many of which have powerful externality welfare benefits but cannot be self-financed or expected to have positive cash flows. An intensive effort is required to develop such policies and the structure and organizations needed to oversee their implementation. China has made good progress with its policy framework, but room for improvement remains in various areas. For example, its Limit Three, Allow Two policy covering emissions by the steel industry has been implemented with differing levels of stringency across the country (Figure 7).

FIGURE 7

The Limit Three, Allow Two policy





Standards are unclear for environmental governance, leaving room for discretion by local governments.



Policies are inconsistently implemented. Industry participants acknowledge large companies are more likely to escape the limitations. SMEs face more stringent regulations. Policies are neglected and stand in the way of innovation. New procedures and techniques, such as enhanced experimental H₂-DRI and blast furnaces with new carbon capture, utilization and storage technology, are less likely to be deployed as the new technologies lack empirical proof of emission reduction.



Policy can be unpredictable, especially for small and medium-sized players. As a result, they struggle to plan accordingly.



Other policy challenges remain. Among those which stand out are:

- Reducing the need for government support. Government support is crucial during the early stages of many ESG-related innovations. However, companies should also be encouraged to find ways of monetizing their new products instead of relying on government subsidies as their primary source of income. In the long run, evidence of market viability will also be needed to obtain financing from the market.
- Regional policy variation. Policies and policy implementation often vary between provinces in China and sometimes even between cities and prefectures within the same province. Among the elements which can vary are metrics, subsidies and technical specifications.

Such differences can make it hard for companies to create products that can be used at any location and for financial institutions to conduct due diligence studies (Figure 8: Different green building standards in selected Chinese cities).^{5,6,7,8} In April 2022, the State Council announced it was launching an initiative to establish a "unified national market", which appears to have the potential to end or mitigate local protectionism, policy variance and market fragmentation.⁹

 Tax incentives. Despite being a potentially powerful tool to accelerate transitions, tax incentives remain an underutilized tool in China. Carbon taxes on exports, the opposite of the EU approach, could have a sizeable impact given the scale of the country's exports. Tax exemptions could be put in place for green products and services.

FIGURE 8



Different green building standards in selected Chinese cities

Source: World Economic Forum and Oliver Wyman, based on local government disclosures

(66)

(66)

Policies are different across regions and often keep changing, forcing financial institutions to keep reviewing their strategies.

Top-down political pressure is still needed to force the industry to finish its green transition.

Source: Quotes collected from poll engine under Chatham House Rule, 2022

Carbon inclusion could prove to be an important instrument for raising customer awareness of the importance of switching to carbon-neutral products. Several approaches could be used to help financial institutions face less risk in their development of products for financing China's transition to carbon neutrality:

 Build consumer awareness of the benefits of buying green products to reduce reliance on policies. Promotions and media campaigns explaining the long-term benefits of paying a premium for green products can play a role in changing public attitudes to sustainability. According to the 2021 Oliver Wyman Forum Global Consumer Sentiment Survey, clearer sustainability labels alone would encourage 45% of people in China to adopt more sustainable buying habits.¹⁰

Dedicated products could also support sales of green products from financial institutions, such as green mortgage products for green residences and green insurance for electric passenger vehicles. As a result, the primary source of revenue could shift from direct government support mechanisms such as subsidies, tax benefits and extra-low-rate loans to market mechanisms.

 Carbon inclusion could prove to be an important instrument for raising customer awareness of the importance of switching to carbon-neutral products. Giving people CO₂ emission credits, such as those of the China Certified Emission Reduction (CCER) scheme, could stimulate an awareness of the need for emissions control. One possible way of doing this would be to grant people credits for using public transport or EVs. While such schemes present technical difficulties, overcoming them could also lead to innovative ways of educating the public about the importance of cutting CO₂ emissions.

- Put in place a unified and consistent nationwide policy framework governing regulations, standards, subsidies and other relevant mechanisms. A useful model for emulation in this respect is the one used in the European Union to build its emissions trading system (Figure 9: The evolution of the EU Emissions Trading System (ETS) policies).¹¹
- Develop mechanisms for mobilizing public-private financing. For example, state guarantees are one way of providing additional reassurance to lenders, while new market mechanisms, such as the CCER, have great potential to attract more support from private capital.

FIGURE 9

The evolution of EU ETS policies

Phase 4 (2021-2030)	Emission allowance: Annual decline of 2.2% Market: EU 27 + Iceland, Liechtenstein, Norway Industry: Add shipping by 2023 Gas: CO_2 , N_2O^* , Perfluorocarbons, etc.
Phase 3 (2013-2020)	Emission allowance: Annual decline of 1.74% Market: EU 28 + Iceland, Liechtenstein, Norway Industry : Power, aviation and manufacturing Gas: CO_2 , N_2O , Perfluorocarbons, etc.
Phase 2 (2008-2012)	Emission allowance: 6.5% lower than 2005 Market: EU 27 + Iceland, Liechtenstein, Norway Industry: Power and aviation Gas: $CO_2 + N_2O$
Phase 1 (2005-2007)	Emission allowance: Set based on Kyoto targets Market: 25 countries within the EU Industry: Power Gas: CO ₂

* Nitrous oxide

Source: World Economic Forum and Oliver Wyman, adapted from the European Commission, EU Emissions Trading System, 2022



China's emissions trading market, CCETE and the CCER scheme had been intended to play a similar role to the EU ETS (Figure 10: Emissions trading systems in China and international markets compared). While CCETE was launched successfully in July 2021, the CCER scheme was suspended in 2017 due to a lack of demand for carbon credits from industry, underdeveloped carbon-reduction evaluation mechanisms and substandard projects. An improved mechanism for CCER, including evaluation mechanisms and project admittance, will be needed at some point.

FIGURE 10 Emissions trading systems in China and international markets



Source: World Economic Forum and Oliver Wyman

Industry analysis

Transitioning China's critical sectors will be instrumental in reducing current emissions and closing funding gaps.



In its transition to carbon neutrality, China will have to transform its entire economy. At the same time, it is clear that transitioning a handful of industries will be particularly critical because of their current emissions contribution, their role in the economy, and the size of their respective financing gaps. One such critical industry is mobility, because of its role in everyday life. Similarly, construction and real estate poses another unique challenge because of the scale of building that China will need in the coming decades as part of its ongoing urbanization. And then there is steel – arguably the greatest marker of China's industrial development due to the country's 57% share of world output. This section explores the innovation and financing needs of each of these industries in detail.

3.1 | Mobility

Overview

China's mobility sector emitted 1.1 billion tonnes of carbon in 2020, accounting for 11% of all emissions.¹² Although this relative figure is far lower than in the world's developed economies, where the industry typically accounts for at least 30% of emissions, it is likely to grow as China's industrialization and construction slow. Within mobility, China's automotive sector, including vehicle manufacturing and use, and covering both freight and passenger transport, is by far the biggest source of CO_2 emissions, accounting for more than 80% of all such emissions from the four major types of transport (Figure 11),¹³ and 9% of China's total CO_2 emissions.

FIGURE 11 Proportion of CO₂ emissions of the four major types of mobility in China (2019)



Source: World Economic Forum and Oliver Wyman, adapted from MOT, Statistical Bulletin on Transport Industry Development, 2020



With vehicle usage still on the rise in China, automotive emissions are growing at more than 5% a year, higher than any other major sector (globally, the share of total emissions is far greater at 18%, but the total amount is shrinking by 0.5% a year). Passenger vehicles account for approximately 40-45% of the sector's emissions (35-40% during the fuel cycle, 10-12% during production and for maintenance), while commercial vehicles account for around 55-65% (between 45-50% in the fuel cycle and 8-10% during production and maintenance) (Figure 12).^{14, 15}

FIGURE 12 Distribution of CO₂ emissions in China's auto industry



Source: World Economic Forum and Oliver Wyman, adapted from World Resources Institute, *Evaluation and Management for Vehicle Life Cycle Carbon Emission*, 2020, and CATARC, *China Energy Saving and NEV Development Report 2021*, 2021

Because of the automotive industry's dominant share of mobility's emissions, this section largely focuses on this sector. This does not mean, however, that the emissions from other mobility sectors are insignificant.

Aviation, which accounts for 10% of all mobility emissions, clearly presents severe challenges to China's net-zero goal, especially given that this will likely be the fastest growing of the four sectors. Due to the huge volume of Chinese exports transported by sea, shipping accounts for around 6% of China's mobility CO_2 emissions. With international shipping accounting for approximately 2% of global CO_2 emissions, and China responsible for around 26% of that total, Chinese shippers can play an important role in helping the world realize its maritime net-zero ambitions. With most of its greenhouse gas emissions arising from fuel combustion, addressing this issue will be the most effective and important way of reducing its impact.

Rail transport, although accounting for just 1% of China's mobility CO₂ emissions, has a different kind

Key net-zero technology pathways

With international shipping accounting for approximately 2% of global CO₂ emissions, and China responsible for around 26% of that total, Chinese shippers can play an important role in helping the world realize its maritime net-zero ambitions. The principal step towards greening automotive mobility will be having new energy vehicles (NEVs) dominate the market, which, combined with the development and introduction of renewable energy sources, will end the sector's reliance on fossil fuels.

Key technology innovations are still underdeveloped. It is widely forecast that NEVs will need at least another ten to fifteen years to be as cost efficient across their life cycle as traditional internalcombustion engine vehicles. Currently, NEVs typically cost more to produce than traditional vehicles and depreciate faster. Production will require large-scale investment and innovation ranging from long-life batteries to efficient electric engines, and not just for their manufacture and use. For example, battery laddering technology continues to hold great promise both to improve battery utilization and lower battery production costs. However, problems with safety, including the threat of explosions, are holding back its adoption. For example, large-scale energy storage projects using ladder batteries have been banned.

In addition, moving to an automotive sector dominated by NEVs will require concerted efforts to green the rest of the industry chain, from automotive component production, through of significance. Given that it is already a relatively green means of transport, the question is how best to reduce its emissions while at the same time expanding usage, both by people and for freight.

Oliver Wyman estimates the total investment needed to transition the mobility sector to carbon neutrality between 2020 and 2060 to be CNY 30-35 trillion (around \$5 trillion), or around CNY 800 billion a year. It estimates the funding gap for the sector to be CNY 8-10 trillion.

In line with the greater public support given to the road sector – around 76% of all official funding to the mobility sector during the 2016-21 period – funding is expected to be more easily available for transitioning the auto sector to net zero than for the other sectors.

Overall, Oliver Wyman estimates the total funding gap for auto mobility to be CNY 6-8 trillion, for aviation, CNY 1-2 trillion, and for shipping and rail, CNY 1 trillion.

vehicle manufacturing and sales, to the aftermarket supply of parts and accessories and provision of eco-services such as intelligent route-planning and car-sharing, to the eventual dismantling and reuse or disposal of vehicles and their materials. A key challenge here that needs substantial R&D is identifying the status of recycled batteries.

Given the size of China's auto industry – production was around 21 million passenger cars in 2019, more than for any other country – reworking the industry will be an enormous and complex task, especially when it comes to establishing net-zero supply chains across the extended production networks that characterize the industry (Case study 1: GAC Motor green factory). Currently, CO_2 emissions attributable to indirect sources in the automotive value chain – Scope 3 emissions, as they are known – account for around 35% of automotive emissions.

Measurement, reporting and verification (MRV) standards and classifications will also have to be put in place for used and scrap materials to support the recycling of parts. Immature energy-conversion technologies also remain problematic. With many safety issues still unresolved, large-scale energystorage projects remain banned in China.

CASE STUDY 1 | GAC Motor green factory



GAC Motor, a Guangzhou-based Chinese automobile maker owned by the Guangzhou Automobile Industry Group, which works with Fiat Jeep Honda Mitsubishi and Toyota is exploring

works with Fiat, Jeep, Honda, Mitsubishi and Toyota, is exploring new, greener processes with its AION Smart Ecological Factory. Among the factory's features are:

- An energy-saving design that uses unequal room heights cuts construction costs by 8% and reduces energy consumption by 15% through space saving.
- Lightweight component materials such as aluminum alloys which, by reducing a vehicle's weight, can cut its energy consumption.
- Environmentally-friendly production techniques that replace volatile organic compounds such as benzene with water-based solutions and use new coating pre-treatment processes that reduce the emission of harmful substances.
- Intelligent energy management systems which use new energystorage technologies to store surplus electricity and integrate its dispatch.
- Renewable energy production through the installation of 52,000 PV panels with an annual generating capacity of more than 16.7 million kWh 15% of the factory's full-load electricity consumption.
- IoT energy management using sensors deployed across the stamping workshop that reduce processes such as motor braking and starting by 98%.

Source: World Economic Forum and Oliver Wyman, 2022

Smart driving services using the internet of vehicles (loV), big data and other technologies can optimize routes to reduce idling and unnecessary detours for traffic scheduling and predictive maintenance. For example, Dida Chuxing, one of China's leading car-hailing platforms, reports cutting CO₂ emissions by 1.1 million tonnes through carpooling. According to the company, each kilometre of carpool driving saves an average of 173g of CO₂ emissions.¹⁶

Beijing Sinoiov Information Technology is an IoV solution provider that offers sensors and monitors



to provide drivers and traffic managers with route algorithms and intelligent vehicle schedules. Among the services it is developing for drivers are smart reminders for vehicle maintenance, refuelling route plans and advice for drivers on energy-saving driving habits. For cities, it offers supervised machine learning of traffic data that can help improve the planning of traffic restriction mechanisms and infrastructure, such as charging stations.



BOX 1 | Transitioning shipping, aviation and rail

Mobility's green transition challenges for the shipping, aviation and especially the railway sectors appear manageable.

Short-term initiatives aimed at addressing shipping emissions included in the 14th Five-Year Plan covering the 2021-25 period include setting up a national ship energy consumption centre, an emission-reduction monitoring system and actively participating in the global governance of industry emission reductions.

A transition to using liquid natural gas as shipping's principal fuel would bring sizeable benefits, among them the elimination of nitrogen oxide and sulfide emissions released by fuels currently used. However, technical difficulties and the risk inherent in the scale of the required investment are impeding the development and application of the relevant technologies.

In the longer term, reductions will come from leveraging synergy with ports and other infrastructure, and the development and application of new fuels and propulsive technologies. Because of rail's low share of China's mobility emissions, its main contribution to moving the country towards its net-zero target will be by increasing its share of passengers and freight transport, thereby reducing road and air transport. In cities, this will call for a further acceleration in the construction of subway networks and elsewhere for a greater use of rail in multimodal cargo networks such as rail-water, rail-sea and rail-air.

Efficient scheduling and command systems, network optimization and the use of green construction and operation practices can also play a role, along with adapting decarbonization solutions in the construction of infrastructure and rail vehicles.

Aviation, like shipping, primarily emits carbon and other greenhouse gases through fuel combustion. Sustainable aviation fuels, produced from sustainable feedstocks, will likely be the solution. Currently, such feedstocks include food waste such as cooking oil and solid waste from homes and industry. Potential sources include algae and various plants.





Source: World Economic Forum and Oliver Wyman

What needs to happen

Due to the scale of change needed, the auto sector's green transition will need to be addressed both from within the sector, by automakers and their suppliers, but also from the outside by looking at the needs of consumers, what policy steps the central and regional governments should be taking and how finance can best play a role. Innovation will be critical in all these areas.

1. Finance innovation

Given the funding gap faced by various emerging NEV technologies and the slow pace of infrastructure development, financial support will be required across several key innovation areas. Capital has been rushing into NEVs but there are also other carbonreducing technologies that require funding, as well as potentially profitable innovation areas with larger financing gaps.

Financing the infrastructure for charging is one area that stands out, along with support for battery recycling and possibly establishing a national rareearth pricing mechanism.

Also, new financial solutions require data infrastructure, stronger and extended research capabilities, and channels to reach related targets, as described in section 2 of this paper. Interviews with experts from different Forum communities showed that loans with tenors of five or more years are still lacking in these areas. The industry, and especially emerging NEV makers, would also benefit from more equity investments and capital market tools that more closely meet their specific requirements. Developing these new tools will require close collaboration between banks, private equity and venture capital firms to manage the risk-reward trade-offs.

Financial institutions must also examine whether and how they can be incentivized to offer discounted lending rates to green vehicle makers and their suppliers. Such an approach would help the industry and financial institutions achieve their net-zero ambitions. Banks need to get ahead of their own ambitions to affect change.

2. Collaboration

As Scope 3 emissions account for around 35% of all mobility emissions, producing and operating green vehicles, trains, aircraft and ships call for coordinated efforts involving many companies. Finding ways to incentivize all players to move together poses difficult organizational problems, but there is no alternative to closer collaboration. Building out vehicle charging networks is one crucial area that could benefit from public-private partnerships, with the private sector supplying the technology and financing, and the public sector helping with the provision of sites.

More broadly, manufacturing supply chains across the mobility sector are long and complex. Achieving a green transition across the sector's various value chains will require innovative mechanisms to motivate upstream players. One approach is for manufacturers to set mandatory green standards for their suppliers, working with financing institutions to design green financing propositions to verify progress in line with incentives and goals. Another is for buyers to pay higher rates for green products to incentivize their suppliers to make their operations sustainable.

Alternatively, companies can explore softer approaches. Ford's Partnership for a Cleaner Environment (PACE), for example, does not set mandatory requirements for suppliers but rather sets out to gain their support through a threestage process:

- Empowerment: providing suppliers with the means they need to overcome their carbon neutrality "pain points", such as not having the right data evaluation tools.
- Guidance: helping suppliers standardize their carbon neutrality practices by designing norms and standards, including data collection and result reporting.
- Sharing: encouraging suppliers to share their successful carbon neutrality practices with other companies.

Already more than 50 companies have joined PACE. They are expected to reduce Ford's supply-chain CO_2 emissions by 680,000 tonnes over the next five years. Further down the road, financial institutions, or possibly Ford itself, could offer supply chain financing products tied to the green performance of supply chain players; the greener their operations, the better the financing terms they are offered.

Finally, as many consumers remain either unaware or unconvinced of the need to shift to green mobility, better consumer education measures could lead to increased adoption of green mobility products and their related financial products, such as loans and insurance for EVs.

• Achieving a green transition across the sector's various value chains will require innovative mechanisms to motivate upstream players.

3. Policy support

Beyond finance, the central and local governments will also have to provide broad policy support.

Tax policies giving preferential treatment regarding the construction, purchase and use of EVs over internal-combustion-powered vehicles, currently covering the period up to the end of 2022, will need to be extended and possibly broadened. Hong Kong offers a model that the rest of China might want to emulate, waiving up to HKD 97,500 (\$12,500) of the first registration tax (FRT) for electric passenger cars and waiving all FRT and allowing a 100% capital expenditure profit-tax deduction for commercial EVs. Standards are another important area for policy, for example, for charging methods to prevent sites from only offering Tesla-specific superchargers. An example worth considering is the United Kingdom and its rollout of a charging network with standardized connectors (plugs) and quality standards developed by the British Standards Institute, data transparency rules and payment methods, all aimed at improving the user experience.¹⁷

Other policy options that need to be considered include the construction of industrial parks, special land-leasing schemes, support for upstream suppliers and staff training and education schemes.

3.2 | Construction and real estate

Overview

The construction and real estate sector contributes around $15\%^{18}$ of China's CO₂ emissions, slightly higher than its 14% contribution to GDP. These emissions come from two principal sources: the materials used in construction and construction itself, and from the operation of a building over its life cycle. Overall emissions across the building life cycle can account for 51% of total Chinese CO_2 emissions¹⁹ if taking all Scope 1,2 and 3 emissions from indoor activities into account (Figure 14: CO_2 emissions along the construction life cycle). Scope 3 emissions, among them materials (including steel), construction technologies and building operations, are the main targets for reduction.

FIGURE 14 Forms of emission across the construction and real estate life cycle



Source: World Economic Forum and Oliver Wyman

Developed countries are leading China in the application of technologies for low-carbon materials, construction, operation and recycling, and also in having stringent environmental standards, all of which point the way forward in many areas. Financial institutions are also starting to explore initiatives aimed at helping the construction industry reduce its CO₂ emissions.

As a significant portion of real estate-related CO₂ emissions occur during the production of materials, especially cement, and the construction stages of a building project, investment in innovation should be focused on these areas. Upgrading construction technologies also has a role to play, as does finding ways of reducing energy usage and maintenance services throughout a building's life.

Key net-zero technology pathways

CO₂ emissions are produced during the four stages of a building's lifetime, which are construction and transport of materials, the building's operation and demolition.

The building materials component, referred to as embodied carbon, contributes a significant

amount of emissions – cement production alone is responsible for 15% of China's greenhouse gas emissions. Worldwide, cement production is responsible for around 5-6% of emissions. The widespread uptake of low-carbon alternatives to cement offers a possible way forward for the industry (Case study 2: Anhui Conch Cement).

CASE STUDY 2 Anhui Conch Cement

Anhui Conch Cement is China's largest cement manufacturer. Headquartered in the Anhui province of Wuhu, its whole-process smart cement production plant works to reduce carbon emissions across the entire production process through the use of innovate technologies and alternative energy sources. Anhui Conch has received substantial official support for its green transition. In 2020, government subsidies, including tax rebates for the comprehensive use of resources, totalled more than CNY 800 million (\$125 million). It has also obtained loans at favourable rates from the China Clean Development Mechanism Fund and other institutions.

Production process	Raw material crushing	Raw meal and clinker production	Cement grinding
Innovation or technology applied	Using industrial solid waste as raw material; installing carbon capture, usage and storage equipment.	Improved energy-efficiency systems introduced for grinding, pre-heating, electric motors, etc. Scrubbing technologies introduced to treat kiln smoke and flue gases.	Introduction of solar, wind, biomass and other new energy sources for the single biggest power-consuming process in cement manufacturing.
Outcome	50,000 tonnes of high-purity industrial- and food-grade CO ₂ produced annually.	Nitrogen oxide (NO _x) emissions cut by around 1.3 tonnes annually. Company-wide, energy savings will reduce CO_2 emissions by 8.5 tonnes annually.	Company-wide, standard coal usage will be cut by 10.8 tonnes annually, and CO_2 emissions by 28 tonnes annually.

Source: World Economic Forum and Oliver Wyman, 2022





© One of the principal ways of lowering emissions during the design and construction phase is by introducing certified green practices

One of the principal ways of reducing emissions is by addressing energy efficiency and the use of lower carbon materials upfront in the design stage. Certain certifications, such as Leadership in Energy and Environment Design (LEED), can provide helpful guidelines.

Reducing emissions over the lifetime of a building's operation requires using energy from renewable sources and increasing energy usage efficiency. Applicable energy technologies include geothermal heat pumps to draw energy from the ground as well as windmills and solar panels. Insulated bricks made of polymer materials with low thermal conductivity can help retain warmth in the winter and keep a building cool in the summer. Traditionally, a building's life ended with it being demolished by bulldozers or explosives and much of the subsequent waste material being transferred to landfills, resulting in both resource depletion and environmental damage. Alternatives now under development involve reusing as much as much of a building's materials as possible. Various countries are experimenting with the design for disassembly/adaptation processes that allow future buildings to be built from previous ones. This requires buildings to be built with easily separable structural and architectural components that are purposefully designed so that whole buildings can be reused.

FIGURE 15 Green transition end stage of construction and real estate



Recycling

Buildings are designed for recycling, with the majority of components being recycled.

Building materials

Cement is produced with recycled/waste materials and green energy.

Reduced usage of toxic materials.

Construction

Energy-efficient machineries and vehicles are used.

Green standards are widely adopted (e.g. LEED).

Operation

Building management systems for energy, water, etc. to reduce resource usage.

Buildings become an energy generator itself by applying distributed PV modules.

Demolition

Buildings are designed for disassembly/ adaptation.

• With most green real estate projects taking even longer to earn a return than conventional schemes and typically exhibiting both higher costs and lower margins, long-term financial support is crucial.

What needs to happen

Tackling the construction and real estate sector's transition to net-zero emissions will require less technology innovation than in the mobility and steel industries, and more reliance on regulatory and incentive schemes that encourage optimal industry behaviours.

1. Finance innovation

With many green real estate projects requiring higher upfront costs and a longer payback period, long-term financial support is critical. While there is growing research that indicates green buildings can generate increased cash flow relative to less sustainable peers, the higher initial cost can dissuade developers that do not plan to hold the asset long-term. Loan periods need to extend for at least ten years, the average period from land acquisition to the first sale of units.

To facilitate such loans, industry players need to address the gap between the information and data it currently provides lending institutions and what those institutions will require for their lending decisions. Also needed will be taxonomies and standards for assessing energy savings, emission reductions and other measures for judging environmental sustainability.

Financial institutions should play a role in ensuring that lending practices align with official regulations and, where necessary, stipulate how standards should be established and the criteria which need to be met for loans to be extended.

Real estate companies' demands for green financing include longer-term solutions and more SME funding. For the most part, SMEs are still neglected by lending institutions, which prefer to provide green financing support to large companies. These large institutions need to work with banks to put in place the right incentives to support the greening of their supply chains. There is a shared interest in large companies, financiers and SMEs working together to make this happen, which requires banks to innovate their solutions while working closely with the industry.

2. Collaboration

Raising green funding requires the supply of better information than the industry currently provides. Developing and installing environmental monitoring systems along with appropriate data management and analysis technologies are necessary steps.

Cross-value-chain cooperation will be required to set, assess and regulate emission control efforts, all necessary to reduce Scope 3 emissions. All relevant parties must contribute to green certification standards, methodologies for greenhouse gas MRV and how information and data can be accessed and shared. This collaborative process needs to be supported by the right incentives, both financial and non-financial.

The industry's long-term development will also be helped by educating end-users on the role of mortgages and other real estate financial products and the impact green building practices can have on the cost of such instruments. In Shanghai, for example, the daily rent for a green grade-A office building is RMB 10.5 per square metre, while for a non-green grade-A building, it is RMB 8.5. What benefits will accrue to a renter of the former? As many buyers and users remain unwilling to pay a green premium for buildings, education on the importance of moving the real estate sector towards carbon neutrality is needed. Shared-space models, such as WeWork or Airbnb, can also contribute to reducing a building's carbon footprint by increasing its space utilization rate in the way similar models in the mobility sector, such as carhailing, have proven effective in lowering overall carbon usage for travel.

3. Policy support

Governments at all levels will have to offer policy support, particularly for setting and monitoring green and other standards. Various surveys have found that people across the country tend to see officials as the key force driving change. For example, when asked "Who do you think should be most responsible for addressing climate change?", some 68% of Chinese polled by the Forum and Oliver Wyman named the government, higher than the global average of 60%.²⁰

Currently, standards vary widely in different parts of China, sometimes even between neighbouring regions such as Shanghai and Zhejiang. Standards can also vary across a building's life cycle. Cement products certified as green by building materials departments may not be regarded as such by construction standards. Methodologies for calculating the amount of carbon reduction resulting from the application of new processes have also yet to be standardized.

City and provincial governments can contribute by establishing clear guidelines aligned with local needs and resources. Beijing's Chaoyang district, for example, offers grants of RMB 20 per square metre for all new LEED platinum-certified buildings and RMB 800,000 for buildings included in pilot energy-efficiency projects.²¹

Lastly, tax incentives also have a role to play in the real estate and construction sector. These could range from tax credits for installing renewable energy systems such as solar panels, geothermal heat pumps or wind turbines to reductions, exemptions and rebates for completed green buildings.

3.3 | **Steel**

Overview

Steel production contributes around $13\%^{22}$ of China's CO₂ emissions, largely due to the use of coal in making iron. Although the industry has great potential for decarbonization, holding the process back is the high cost of replacing many relatively new blast furnaces and the high levels of leverage that already exist in the sector. Oliver Wyman calculates the funding gap for China's steel sector to be around CNY 4-6 trillion for the 2020-60 period, or CNY 100-120 billion a year. The gap comes from the funding shortage for key technology advancements, including mini-mills and H2-DRI.

Policies impacting the industry include the 14th Five-Year Plan and the National Development and Reform Commission's Industrial Resources Comprehensive Use Plan, which focus on reducing raw materials consumption by steel producers. The 14th Five-Year Plan, covering 2021 to 2025, includes a commitment for China's raw materials sector to adopt a development strategy built around achieving higher quality, better profitability and low carbon. A statement on the plan's goals, issued by the Ministry of Industry and Information Technology and other government agencies in December 2021, called for efforts across the industry to realize a "digital and green shift". It also called on steel producers to not increase production capacity. A notice issued by the National Development and Reform Commission, together with other central departments, calls for a substantial reduction in industrial solid waste in key industries, including iron and steel, to achieve a utilization rate for the bulk industrial solid waste of 57% by 2025.



Key net-zero technology pathways

Short-process mini-mills, which use scrap steel to produce new steel, generate significantly lower CO₂ emissions than traditional long-process steel-making, which uses iron ore as its principal input. However, such mills require significant capital expenditure – around CNY 4 billion for a typical 1 million tonne per year production line – and a reliable source of scrap. Steel produced from such mills costs around 10-15% more than long-process steel.

The government is trying to boost this share, curbing the usage of traditional integrated steel plants while raising the capacity for mini-mills. With steel companies' profitability being low – gross margins averaged just 10.6% in 2020 and net margins just 3.9% – encouraging the large-scale take-up of new technologies requires substantial support from the government, state-owned enterprises, the private sector, banks and foreign technology providers (Figure 16).²³

FIGURE 16 | Environmental impacts of long process and mini-mills

- Effective use of scrap steel alloying elements

- Flexible process: precise temperature control in the furnace



* Nitrogen oxide; ** Sulfur dioxide

Source: World Economic Forum and Oliver Wyman, adapted from the China Metallurgical Group, Comparison of environmental protection and energy consumption between short and long processes, 2020

Industry experts forecast that mini-mills, which use scrap steel as their raw material and electricity to power their furnaces, could contribute to reducing the industry's emissions by around 8-10%. In the US, mini-mills account for around 70% of all steelmaking capacity; in China, their share currently is only around 15%, though it is forecast to rise to approximately 80% by 2050 (Figure 17).^{24, 25}

Source: World Economic Forum and Oliver Wyman, adapted from China Metallurgical Information and Standardization Institute, Overview of steel production and steel consumption in the 15 RCEP countries, 2020; Hwabao Securities, Analysis of Carbon Neutrality Status and Carbon Reduction Path in the Steel Industry, 2021

The challenges to switching to mini-mills include the cost of electricity needed to power them (traditional furnaces rely on coal), insufficient supplies of scrap steel (total supplies in 2020 were only 260 million tonnes while demand stood at more than 1 billion

tonnes), and access to funds to install sufficient capacity. Yet, with adequate support from policymakers, banks and local administrations, the benefits of switching to mini-mills could be realized relatively quickly (Case study 3: Hebei Iron and Steel).

Hebei Iron and Steel (HBIS) has embarked on the process of introducing short-process mini-mills to its Shigang New Area facility in Shijiazhuang city, Hebei province.

Initially, it faced two major challenges – securing an adequate and stable supply of scrap steel of the right quality and being able to afford the higher price of the mills.

HBIS solved the supply issue by developing two sources of scrap steel: setting up an auto steel recycling project near its plant and using imports processed to meet national standards.

And it compensated for the cost of mini-mills with a three-pronged strategy:

- Reducing logistics costs by using compact plant layouts to reduce interprocess logistics and transport needs
- Lowering processing costs by optimizing the structure of scrap used as it was able to secure access to high-quality scrap supplies
- Raising the quality of output to produce more premium steels

Crucial to the plant's success had been government policy encouraging steel manufacturers to rethink their long-term strategies. National standards for recycled steel materials received approval in December 2020 and recently the go-ahead was given to allow high-quality steel scrap imports.

While curbs had been in place on expanding traditional steel-making plants, companies were able to add unlimited electric furnace short-process steel-manufacturing capacity. The government had also put in place a number of favourable financial and tax policies specifically targeting the development of the scrap steel industry.

HBIS's Shigang plant now uses mini-mills to produce around 7,000 tonnes of steel daily. Compared with traditional steel-making, the mills use 62% less energy and 46% less water, and produce 75% fewer major pollutants (particulate matter, SO₂ and nitrogen oxides).

HBIS expects short-process electric furnaces to account for 25% of its output by 2030, with its scrap steel utilization ratio rising to 20%.

Source: World Economic Forum and Oliver Wyman, 2022

Using H2-DRI processes could contribute a further 1-2% reduction in carbon usage. DRI-based reduction emits less CO₂ than traditional steel production largely due to using flammable gases, such as natural gas, and in a more advanced form, natural hydrogen gas, as its fuel. For China, the challenge is securing adequate gas supplies at a reasonable price.

Helping the industry move to net zero is the fact that the growth of steel production has peaked for many companies due to the introduction of government production curbs. China Baosteel, one of China's biggest listed steel manufacturers, increased its output yearly from 2016 to 2021. Last year, however, the government introduced a volume control policy forecast to reduce output over

the next few years. Despite the capacity cuts, the company's profitability has been increasing due to increased sales of silicon steel, one of its flagship high-end products, and cost reductions, which have improved efficiency.

An unforeseen drawback of the government's production limits has been that it has discouraged companies from adding production capacity using new emissions-control technology, resulting in them continuing to operate their existing plants.

Change, perhaps driven by the emergence of a scrap steel industry complementing China's traditional steel sector, is leading to new companies exploring digital opportunities for the sector (Case study 4: Ouyeel).

CASE STUDY 4 | Ouyeel

Ouyeel, an online steel transaction platform established by Shanghai-based state-owned China Baosteel, which handles more

than 20 million tonnes of steel scrap annually, completed two

rounds of financing in 2021 through the Shanghai United Assets and Equity Exchange as a result of its adoption of digital platform technology, bringing its total funding to date to \$432 million. The company is now planning to raise further funds through a market listing in 2023.

FIGURE 18 | The green transition end stage of steel

Energy source

Increased proportion of clean energy and reductant, including hydrogen, as energy sources.

Raw materials

Increased proportion of scrap metal as a source of raw materials.

Iron/steel-making

Mini-mills replaced the long, traditional process, as the most used the steel-making process.

Pelleting replaced sintering in materials feeding.

CCUS was widely applied to further reduce carbon emissions.

Finishing and others

What needs to happen

The steel sector's transition to net zero hinges on access to financing, particularly on overcoming the challenges presented by the industry's low levels of profitability. Because of these dynamics, collaboration and policy support will both play important roles in helping steel producers find transition pathways and develop and deploy several key technologies.

1. Finance innovation

One of the biggest challenges for decarbonizing China's steel industry will be securing the funding necessary in an industry with a long history of high leverage, poor cash flows and low margins. The CNY 100-150 billion needed annually to finance its transition to net zero is far too great to be paid for from operating capital. Although the government has mandated that the industry move to ultra-low emissions, official support is still somewhat lacking. In addition, steel producers will likely find themselves having to participate in China's carbon market on a major scale. Online trading on China's national carbon market, CCETE, started on July 16, 2021. Included in the scheme are 2,162 key emission units in China's power generation industry, responsible for some 4.5 billion tonnes of CO₂ emissions, making it the largest carbon market in the world. Although CCETE only covers the trading of carbon credits for thermal power plants, more sophisticated carbon trading markets are under development.

The CCER scheme has the potential to play a significant role by allowing ultra-low emission steel producers, such as those using H2-DRI technologies, to monetize their investments. As Europe has demonstrated with its EU-ETS, steel-makers can readily be motivated to accelerate

Tackling the challenges facing the steel industry's move to net zero will call for the involvement of officials at the highest levels, with coordination necessary between the industry, funding sources in both the private and public sector and policy-makers.

carbon reduction programmes where there is a clear pathway to a financial benefit.

More generally, as companies may find it hard to secure loans or other forms of debt financing at attractive rates, alternative forms of tapping capital markets and managing cash will be required. Among the possibilities the industry is exploring are the establishment of industry funds, the flotation of innovative new businesses, capital injections from downstream suppliers and ownership reform that brings in new partners.

2. Collaboration

Another alternative for steel producers is to transfer the higher costs they will inevitably face for producing green steel for end-users. If that steel is of higher quality or shows unique characteristics, such as being fire-resistant, it may be possible to find customers willing to pay a premium, in turn opening a pathway for producers to afford high-end manufacturing capabilities in a virtuous circle.

Companies can then explore the possibility of turning themselves into an "ecosystem play", meaning that they tie up with green partners along their value chains, such as the auto and construction sectors, by reducing their Scope 3 emissions. China Metallurgical Group (MCC), one of the largest manufacturers of of steel and other equipment in China, has developed ties with suppliers with green qualifications. Linking with MCC is one way in which steel producers can plug into other businesses that can help them transition to net zero.

Another form of collaboration is for banks to divide a project into separate elements rather than view it as a whole. For example, separating technology development from business operations can reduce complexity and allow different types of risk to be assessed differently. Lending institutions can then fund the parts of a steel manufacturing operation they are comfortable with and charge accordingly. Finally, central or local governments can support the price of green steel for early movers and draw up guidelines covering the risk posed by stranded assets if all or part of a project were to run into difficulties.²⁶

3. Policy support

Tackling the challenges facing the steel industry's move to net zero will call for the involvement of officials at the highest levels, with coordination necessary between the industry, funding sources in both the private and public sector and policy-makers.

The government will be helped because stateowned companies, many of them of enormous size, dominate China's steel sector. As their ultimate owner, the government can exert influence more easily than over a sector dominated by private players. While profitability is important to the sector, through its ownership of steel manufacturers or their parent companies, the government can exercise a major influence over key decisions.

Tax incentives are another powerful tool accelerating China's transition to net zero. Work is already underway on a carbon tax, with a scheme likely to be drawn up in the next one or two years. More targeted would be a carbon tax on exports, which could be significant given the large scale of China's overseas steel sales (67 million tonnes in 2021). This is a contrast to the EU's planned tax on all non-green imports. Tax exemptions in various forms could be granted to green products and services. Hindering the development of such measures are concerns over the government's ability to put in place accurate MRV emission schemes and avoiding putting too great additional burdens on emissionheavy but important industries such as steel.

Direct government support will likely also play an important role, be it in tax breaks for investment, spending on R&D or via direct subsidies. Incentives for steel users could also prove important. Businesses such as automakers will need to manage the carbon footprint of their inputs to reduce their Scope 3 emissions and, in the process, may demand more low-emission materials.

Conclusion

China faces major but not insurmountable challenges in transitioning its economy to net-zero carbon emissions. The country's unique features, notably its reliance on manufacturing, result in that transition having greater costs than in the more service-driven economies of Europe and North America.

At the same time, China's unique features are also an advantage. Its form of governance, for example, offers a good reason for believing it will stand by its long-term commitment to carbon neutrality. Because of its already powerful position in renewable energy, particularly wind and solar power, China is on a promising path to building a sustainable power sector. Its significant and rising spending on R&D positions it to discover and deploy the technologies needed to green other critical industries as well.

Nevertheless, major funding gaps remain. This report has outlined how a combination of financial innovation by lenders, a collaboration between government and industry, the necessary policy environment and above all, putting in place carbon and other tax incentives, can lead to China realizing its carbon neutrality goal by 2060.

While the road to get there is steep, if China gets this journey right, it could position itself to drive a green revolution globally as the country's scale and its position in the global economy and supply chains will inevitably trigger and drive transformation in other parts of the world as well.

Contributors

The development of this paper was supported by the project team:

Jason Ekberg Partner, Oliver Wyman (Marsh McLennan)

Qian Hang Partner, Oliver Wyman (Marsh McLennan)

Kai Keller The Future of Financial Services in China, World Economic Forum

Marcus Liu Senior Consultant, Oliver Wyman (Marsh McLennan)

The project team would like to express their gratitude to the following Forum and Oliver Wyman staff for their contributions and support:

Derek Baraldi

Head of the Banking Industry, USA, World Economic Forum LLC

Kalin Bracken Lead Real Estate, USA, World Economic Forum LLC

Rikka Chen Senior Consultant, Oliver Wyman (Marsh McLennan)

Manuela Stefania Fulga Platform Curator, Banking and Capital Markets, World Economic Forum

Kiera Han

Community Lead Business Engagement Greater China, People's Republic of China, World Economic Forum

Li Jing

Marketing and Communications, People's Republic of China, World Economic Forum

Eric Ma Associate, Oliver Wyman (Marsh McLennan)

Marie Penelope Nezurugo Research and Analysis Specialist, World Economic Forum

Peter Reynolds Managing Partner, Head of Greater China, Oliver Wyman (Marsh McLennan)

Kelly Tian Principal, Financial Services, Oliver Wyman (Marsh McLennan)

Zhang Junyi Partner, Oliver Wyman (Marsh McLennan)

Vee Li Energy Sector Lead, China Climate Action, Mission Possible Partnership, People's Republic of China, World Economic Forum

Lin Li Financial Services Industry Team, World Economic Forum

Liu Peiran Senior Consultant, Oliver Wyman (Marsh McLennan)

Jerome Tan Principal, Oliver Wyman (Marsh McLennan)

Vincent Wang Community Lead Business Engagement Greater China, People's Republic of China, World Economic Forum

Jia Yindong

Community Lead Business Engagement Greater China, People's Republic of China, World Economic Forum

Acknowledgements

The project team would like to thank the participants of expert workshops and all public sector, academic and senior industry participants who contributed their insights to this publication through interviews, interventions at public-private senior leadership discussions and strategic guidance.

Ding Anhua Chief Economist, China Merchants Bank

Bangwei Bai Director, Material Technology, CITIC Dicastal

Bo Bai

Chairman/ Chief Executive Officer, Asia Green Fund Management

Wu Bo Vice-Director of Investment Department, Chengdu Xingcheng Investment Group

Chang Feng Managing Director, Advisory, Global Sustainable Finance Group, Bank of America

Antoine De Guillebon Head of Strategy and Planning, HSBC Bank (China)

Jin Jing Huang Financing Transition Officer, China Construction Bank

Xuang Huang Energy Management, Eve Battery

Vincent Jiang Chief Financial Officer, Dida Chuxing

Stephanie Kao Corporate Sustainability Office, CTBC Financial Holding

Christy Kwok Senior Corporate Strategy Officer, MTR

Lynette Leong Chief Sustainability Officer, CapitaLand Group

Chen Li Manager Automobile Finance, China CITIC Bank

Chen Li Vice-President, Gotion High-tech

Ding Li Transition Finance Officer, China Construction Bank Michael Li Chief Executive Officer, China, Marsh (Marsh McLennan)

Wenbo Li Transition Finance Officer, China Construction Bank

Yiding Li Customer Manager, Equipment Leasing, CITIC Leasing

Jia Liu Product Planning Engineer, GAC Capital

Xiaoshi Liu Executive Deputy Secretary-General, China EV100

Leslie Warren Maasdorp Vice-President and Chief Financial Officer

Chengchen Peng Transition Finance Officer, China Construction Bank

Er Foo Peng Vice-President, Sustainability, CapitaLand Group

Feifei Peng Investor Relations, Dida Chuxing

Ran Qihai Transition Finance Officer, China Construction Bank

Adeel Rizvi Director, Asset Finance, Global Sustainable Finance Group, Bank of America

Renee Song Investor Relations, Primavera Capital Group

Tang Shi Industry Planning Research Centre, Credit Management Department, Bank of China

Wan Tailei Chairman, China Bond Credit Rating, National Association of Financial Market Institutional Investors

Michael Tse Chief Corporate Strategy Manager, MTR

Peng Wang Head, Asset-Liabilities, China CITIC Bank

Xi Wang Auto Finance Dept. AlBank, CITIC Group

Zhuoyan Wang Senior Manager, China CITIC Bank

Wenyuan Wu

Chief Investment Officer and Head of Investment Development Department, Chengdu Xingcheng Investment Group

Yiming Wu General Manager, Transportation Department, CITIC Leasing

Yang Xingbao Manager, CITIC Group Strategy and development department, CITIC Group

department, CITIC Group

Ye Ying Director, CITIC Group Strategy and development

Eric Yi Managing Director, China International Capital

Hong Yin Deputy Head, Modern Finance Research Institute, Industrial and Commercial Bank of China

Yanfei Yin Senior Manager, Research and Innovation, China CITIC Bank

Frankie Yuan General Manager, GAC Capital

Chen Yue Senior Regional Manager, Financial Institutions, Agricultural Bank of China

Eugene Yung Senior Vice-President, Strategy and Planning, HSBC Bank (China) Dijiang Zhang Managing Director ad interim, Xinyin Investment, CITIC Group

Jin Zhang Founding Partner and Chief Operating Officer, Asia Green Fund Management

Peter Zhang Lead General Management, CNCB, China CITIC Bank

Xiang Zhang Assistant to the Senior Vice-President, Gotion High-tech

Liqiang Zhao Chief Strategy Officer, Gemdale

Dandan Zheng Executive Director, Department of Investment Research and Development, Green Development Fund Private Equity Investment Management (Shanghai)

Editing and design

Jools Bond Editor, Studio Miko

Laurence Denmark Creative Director, Studio Miko

Martha Howlett Editor, Studio Miko

Oliver Turner Designer, Studio Miko

Endnotes

- 1. World Bank, Data Manufacturing, value added (% of GDP), 2021, https://data.worldbank.org/indicator/NV.IND.MANF.ZS.
- 2. International Energy Agency, Data and statistics, 2020, https://www.iea.org/statistics/co2emissions/.
- 3. National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration Communications, *Deforestation, warming flip part of Amazon forest from carbon sink to source*, 14 July 2021, <u>https://research.noaa.gov/article/ArtMID/587/ArticleID/2778/Deforestation-warming-flip-part-of-Amazon-forest-from-carbon-sink-to-source</u>.
- 4. Meng, Bo, et al., "More than half of China's CO2 emissions are from micro, small and medium-sized enterprises", *Applied Energy*, vol. 230, 15 November 2018, <u>https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/abs/pii/S0306261918312777</u>.
- 5. Housing and Urban-Rural Development Bureau of Huzhou, *The proportion of high star rated green buildings in the city has increased significantly (*我市高星级绿色建筑占比大幅提升), November 2021, <u>http://jsj.huzhou.gov.cn/hzgov/front/s52/</u>xxgk/zcwj/bmwj/20211116/i3075211.html.
- 6. Housing and Urban-Rural Development Department of Zhejiang Province, Announcement on the Release of Zhejiang Province Engineering Construction Standard "Green Building Design Standard" (关于发布浙江省工程建设标准《绿色建筑设 计标准》的公告), December 2021, <u>https://jst.zj.gov.cn/art/2021/12/6/art_1229159347_58928368.html</u>.
- 7. Shanghai Housing and Urban-Rural Development Management Committee, *Notice on Further Regulation of Green Building Evaluation Management in the City (*关于进一步规范本市绿色建筑评价管理工作的通知), June 2020, https://zjw.sh.gov.cn/jsgl/20200615/54e24ab1ebfa43e68b98aa2002eab08d.html.
- 8. Housing and Urban-Rural Development Bureau of Ningbo, Notice on the Publication of the Rules for the Implementation of Green Building Evaluation in Ningbo (关于发布《宁波市绿色建筑评价实施细则》的通知), December 2017, http://www.ningbo.gov.cn/art/2017/12/19/art_1229095999_1014242.html.
- 9. Global Times, China to build unified national market to tackle persistent issues, enhance economic security, 10 April 2022, https://www.globaltimes.cn/page/202204/1258963.shtml.
- 10. Oliver Wyman Forum, *The Climate Catalysts: Insisting that businesses take responsible action, they're pushing the leaders toward a sustainable future*, 2022, <u>https://www.oliverwymanforum.com/global-consumer-sentiment/the-new-people-shaping-our-future/the-climate-catalysts.html</u>.
- 11. European Commission, EU Emissions Trading, (n.d.), <u>https://ec.europa.eu/clima/eu-action/eu-emissions-trading-system-eu-ets_en</u>.
- 12. International Energy Agency, *An energy sector roadmap to carbon neutrality in China*, September 2021, https://www.iea.org/reports/an-energy-sector-roadmap-to-carbon-neutrality-in-china.
- 13. Ministry of Transport of the People's Republic of China (MOT), Statistical Bulletin on Transport Industry Development 2020, (年交通运输行业发展统计公报), May 2021, http://www.gov.cn/xinwen/2021-05/19/content_5608523.htm.
- 14. World Resources Institute, Evaluation and Management for Vehicle Life Cycle Carbon Emissions (探索乘用车全生命周期碳 排放的核算与管理), August 2020, <u>https://wri.org.cn/insights/life-cycle-carbon-emission</u>.
- 15. China Automotive Technology and Research Centre, China Energy Saving and NEV Development Report 2021 (节能与新 能源汽车发展报告2021), 2021, http://www.cinn.cn/gongjing/202112/t20211215_251034.shtml.
- 16. Dida Chuxing, Carbon Reduction Results for 2021 [Infographic] (2021年全年减碳成绩单), <u>https://mp.weixin.qq.com/s/</u> gHJ3v05_FLUpnjYB0izfbg.
- 17. HM Government, *Taking charge: the electric vehicle infrastructure strategy*, March 2022, <u>https://assets.publishing.</u> service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1065576/taking-charge-the-electric-vehicleinfrastructure-strategy.pdf.
- 18. International Energy Agency, *An energy sector roadmap to carbon neutrality in China*, September 2021, https://www.iea.org/reports/an-energy-sector-roadmap-to-carbon-neutrality-in-china.
- 19. China Association of Building Energy Efficiency, 2020 China Building Energy Consumption Report (中国建筑能耗研究报告2020), 2021, https://www.cabee.org/site/content/24020.html.
- 20. Oliver Wyman Forum, *The Climate Catalysts: Insisting that businesses take responsible action, they're pushing the leaders toward a sustainable future*, 2022, <u>https://www.oliverwymanforum.com/global-consumer-sentiment/the-new-people-shaping-our-future/the-climate-catalysts.html</u>.
- 21. Chaoyang District People's Government of Beijing Municipality, Measures for the administration of special funds for energy conservation and carbon reduction (北京市朝阳区人民政府关于印发《朝阳区节能减碳专项资金管理办法》的通知), January 2018, http://www.bjchy.gov.cn/zfxxgk/zfxxgkzcwj/5e2411f1ab75c16cfc17fa70.html.
- 22. International Energy Agency, *An energy sector roadmap to carbon neutrality in China*, September 2021, <u>https://www.iea.org/reports/an-energy-sector-roadmap-to-carbon-neutrality-in-china</u>.
- 23. Metallurgical Group, Comparison of environmental protection and energy consumption between short and long processes (短流程和长流程在环保能耗方面的对比), October 2020, <u>http://www.scykjt.cn/?Article216/367.htm</u>.
- 24. China Metallurgical Information and Standardization Institute, Overview of steel production and steel consumption in the 15 RCEP countries (RCEP十五国钢铁生产和钢材消费概况), November 2020, https://www.sohu.com/a/433579092_313737.
- 25. Hwabao Securities, Analysis of Carbon Neutrality Status and Carbon Reduction Path In the Steel Industry (钢铁行业碳中和 现状与减碳路径分析), July 2021, <u>https://mhuanbao.bjx.com.cn/mnews/20210729/1166658.shtml</u>.
- 26. World Economic Forum in Collaboration with Oliver Wyman, *Financing the Transition to a Net-Zero Future*, 14 October 2021, <u>https://www.weforum.org/reports/financing-the-transition-to-a-net-zero-future</u>.

COMMITTED TO IMPROVING THE STATE OF THE WORLD

The World Economic Forum, committed to improving the state of the world, is the International Organization for Public-Private Cooperation.

The Forum engages the foremost political, business and other leaders of society to shape global, regional and industry agendas.

World Economic Forum

91–93 route de la Capite CH-1223 Cologny/Geneva Switzerland

Tel.: +41 (0) 22 869 1212 Fax: +41 (0) 22 786 2744 contact@weforum.org www.weforum.org